IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE No. 2009-TS-00407

BUSINESS COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

ALBERT BANKS

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, BUSINESS COMMUNICATIONS INC.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

Submitted by:
STEPHEN J. CARMODY, MSB
JOHN C. HALL, II MSB#
BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC
190 East Capitol Street
Post Office Drawer 119
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
Telephone: (601) 948-3101
Facsimile: (601) 960-6902

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Defendant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict.
 - 1. Mississippi courts have never required a showing of unfair competition to enforce a noncompete agreement and the jury was not instructed on this element.
 - 2. Business Communication, Inc.'s Business Protection Agreement was a valid and enforceable agreement.
 - 3. The Business Protection Agreement's terms were reasonable.
 - 4. The proof at trial supported a finding that Banks breached the Business Protection Agreement.
- B. The Evidence Introduced at Trial Supports The Jury's Finding That Banks Violated The Terms Of The Cost Reimbursement Employee Handbook Provision.
 - 1. Banks was required to fulfill his obligations pursuant to the Business Communication, Inc.'s Employee Handbook and the jury found that he did not meet these obligations.
 - 2. The jury did not err when it found that Banks must fulfill his obligations under the training cost reimbursement provision of his employment handbook.

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Business Communications Inc. ("BCI") sued Al Banks ("Banks"), its former Vice-President for Emerging Technologies, ¹ for unlawful breach of his employment contract which contained a Business Protection Agreement ("BPA") and for the violation of the terms of the training Costs Reimbursement Provision ("CRP") contained in the BCI Employee Handbook which was also considered a part of his employment contract. BCI and Venture Technologies, Inc. ("Venture") are the two main companies in metro Jackson, Mississippi, that specialize in providing network and communication systems integration and consulting. As such, they are direct competitors. Banks went to work with Venture in February, 2006 in violation of his employment agreement. Banks also disclosed confidential information belonging to BCI to two of its biggest competitors, BellSouth and Venture. Banks also violated the terms of his BPA by taking business materials and other property belonging to BCI after his employment ended. Pursuant to the BCI employee handbook, Banks was also required to reimburse BCI for the training expenses for the year before his separation from BCI. He failed to reimburse these training costs.

BCI filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi, seeking damages from Banks. At the conclusion of a four day jury trial, BCI prevailed and the jury awarded \$1,000.00 to BCI for breach of the BPA and \$9,000.00 as damages for his breach of the CRP. However, the lower court granted Defendant's Motion for Judgement Notwithstanding the Verdict ("J.N.O.V.") and held that there was no breach of the BPA because BCI failed to prove that

¹From November 27, 2001 through the date of his resignation in February 2006, BCI employed Al Banks as its Vice-President of Emerging Technologies. In his capacity as Vice-President, he was exposed to confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets that BCI uses when competing with Venture. He was also the "name and face" of BCI as well as its primary contact for several BCI customers.

it was subjected to unfair competition as a result of Banks' employment by his new employer. The lower court also granted a J.N.O.V. reversing the jury verdict finding a breach of the CRP because there was no proof of a meeting of the minds between the parties. BCI now seeks to reverse the lower court's decision and to reinstate the jury verdict in its favor because there is no legal or factual justification to support the lower court's granting of a J.N.O.V. First, the trial court erred by granting a J.N.O.V. on the issue of the BPA breach because the trial court required an additional showing of unfair competition even though (1) the jury was not instructed on this heightened element, and (2) this element of proof is not required under Mississippi law. Second, the trial court also erred by setting aside the jury's verdict even though the evidence introduced at trial established both the validity and violation of the terms of the CRP. BCI seeks to reinstate the Madison County jury's verdict because it was supported by the proof at trial and is proper as a matter of law.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Procedural History.</u>

BCI filed its Amended Complaint on March 29, 2007, seeking damages for breach of contract from Banks. (*R. at 654*). Banks timely filed his Answer. The Court conducted a jury trial in the Madison County Circuit Court on October 14, 2008. At the conclusion of a four day jury trial, BCI prevailed and the jury awarded \$1,000.00 to BCI for breach of the BPA and \$9,000.00 as damages for his breach of the CRP. On October 31, 2008, a Judgment in BCI's favor in the amount of \$10,000.00 was entered. (*R. at 1161-1162*). On November 10, 2008, Defendant's Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict, or in the Alternative for a New Trial, or in the Alternative, for a Remittitur of the Damages Awarded were filed. (*R. at 1164-1183*). BCI filed its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on November 21, 2008.² (*R. at 1184-1215*). BCI's Response to Defendant's Motion For J.N.O.V. or in the Alternative, for a New Trial or in the Alternative, for a Remittitur of the Damages Awarded was filed on January 6, 2009. (*R. at 1294-1316*). The Order Granting Defendant Albert Banks' Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict was entered on March 2, 2009. (*R. at 1384-1386*). BCI timely filed its Notice of Appeal on March 5, 2009. (*R. at 1387-1388*).

B. Facts and Background.

On March 2, 2001, BCI offered employment to Banks as a Lead Consulting Engineer. (Exb. P-1). The offer was contingent upon Banks' signing BCI's BPA (Business Protection Agreement).

²The lower court did not rule on this Motion because it became moot upon the granting of Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V. BCI respectfully requests this Court to reinstate the jury verdict below and to award BCI its attorneys' fees and costs as outlined in its Motion.

(Id.) Banks executed the BPA, which is dated March 8, 2001. (Ex. P-2). The BPA contains a reasonable non-competition provision:

For a period of one (1) year after termination of Employee's employment with the Company, whether voluntarily or involuntarily terminated by either party with or without cause or notice, the Employee hereby agrees not to render services, directly or indirectly, whether as principal or agent, officer, director, employee, advisor, consultant, shareholder, or otherwise, alone or in association with any other person or entity, to or for any Competitor of the Company within a 150 mile radius of the (a) the location of any office of the Company and (b) from any place where the business of the Company is being conducted, whether or not the Company established an office in such a location.

(Exb. P-2, at 1-2, § 2).

Banks began work at BCI on March 19, 2001. (Tr. at 438). A few months later, on November 27, 2001, BCI promoted Banks to Vice-President of Emerging Technologies. (Tr. at 443). Banks served as an officer of BCI until he left BCI to work for Venture in February of 2006. (Tr. at 453).

During Banks' time at BCI, he was primarily responsible for the installation and support of local and wide area network Cisco equipment. (*Tr. at 437*). To enable Banks to perform these duties and others, BCI incurred substantial training costs and expenses. (*Tr. at 90-96*). While employed at BCI, he also came in contact with confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets of BCI in order to enable him to perform his job duties. (*Exb. P-2*). During the course of this litigation, it was discovered that after Banks left BCI, he took with him several pieces of BCI property including a BCI Employment Handbook, BCI's customer work orders, and a BCI backup computer disk. (*Tr. at 87, 220-226, 343, 348-349*).

In January 2005, Banks, unbeknownst to BCI, placed his resume on Monster.com. (*Tr. at 238*). Venture Technologies, his current employer, contacted him in November of 2005 about employment. (*Id.*) In response to employment inquiries from Venture, Banks' told them that he signed a non-competition agreement with BCI, and that he was not able to work for Venture because he had a noncompete agreement. (*Tr. at 239-241*). Venture backed off and did not pursue employment for over two months. On January 26, 2006, Venture approached Banks again. (*Tr. at 240-241*). On February 7, 2006, Venture formally extended Banks a job offer. (*Tr. at 242; Exb. P-11*).

Banks notified BCI of his resignation on February 15, 2006. (Tr. at 80, 246; Exb. P-4). Tony Bailey ("Bailey"), Chief Executive Officer of BCI, asked Banks where he was going to work. (Tr. at 321-322). Banks would not tell them. (Id.) Bailey soon discovered that Banks left BCI to work for Venture. BCI and Venture are direct competitors. (Tr. 197, 227, 228, 241, 342, 350, 355, 445, 484). They both specialize in providing network and communication systems integration and consulting. (Id.) Banks' employment by Venture was in direct violation of the non-competition agreement. Moreover, Banks' disclosure of confidential information belonging to BCI as well as his retention of BCI property after the termination of his employment are further proof of his breaches of the BPA.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict made under the procedural vehicle of *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 50 (b), requires the trial court to test the legal sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict, not the weight of the evidence. *Tharp v. Bunge Corp.*, 641 So. 2d 20, 23 (Miss. 1994).

In White v. Stewman, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006), the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of review for the grant or denial of a J.N.O.V. as follows:

[T]his Court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee [nonmovant], giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference [sic] that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. If the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant [movant] that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, we are required to reverse and render. On the other hand if there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, affirmance is required. The above standards of review, however, are predicated on the fact that the trial judge applied the correct law.

In order to rule on a motion for J.N.O.V., the trial court is required to consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inferences that reasonably may be drawn therefrom. *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So. 2d 30, 36 (Miss. 2003) (quoting *Goodwin v. Derryberry Co.*, 553 So. 2d 40, 42 (Miss. 1989)). "A motion for J.N.O.V. is a challenge to the legal sufficiency of the evidence, and this Court will affirm the denial of a J.N.O.V. if there is substantial evidence to support the verdict." *United States Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Martin, 998 So. 2d 956 at 964 (Miss. 2008)* (citing *Adcock v. Miss. Transp. Comm'n,* 981 So. 2d 942, 948 (Miss. 2008)); *Sentinel Indus. Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Serv. Corp.*, 743 So. 2d 954, 961 (Miss.1999)(citing *Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc.*, 697 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.1997)). "Substantial evidence" has been defined as "information of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions." *Martin,* 998 So. 2d at 964 (citing *Adcock,* 981 So. 2d at 948-49); see also *Smith v. Averill,* 722 So. 2d 606, 613 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Fitzner Pontiac-Buick-Cadillac, Inc. v. Smith,* 523 So. 2d 324, 326 (Miss. 1988)).

B. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Defendant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict.

The lower court erred in granting Banks' Motion for J.N.O.V. because Mississippi law does not require a showing of unfair competition for BCI to prove that Banks breached his noncompete agreement. The unfair competition element is simply not a prerequisite for enforcing a noncompete agreement in Mississippi. Moreover, the trial court did not instruct the jury on this element. Consequently, the lower court overruled the jury verdict, but this ruling is contrary to established Mississippi jurisprudence and the proof offered at trial. The simple fact remains that there are no Mississippi cases which require a showing of unfair competition to prove a violation of a noncompete agreement. Moreover, the record evidence confirmed that the BPA was an enforceable agreement between Banks and BCI, and also that Banks breached his BPA in several ways. These additional breaches further supported the jury's verdict.

1. Mississippi jurisprudence does not require a showing of unfair competition to enforce a noncompete agreement and the jury was not instructed on this element.

The lower court improperly granted Banks' Motion for J.N.O.V. on the issue of the breach of the BPA and the court's opinion on the record confirms that the basis for the ruling is just dead wrong:

Covenants not to compete only protect against "unfair" competition by a former employee. Being disfavored by law, these agreements are never enforced to prevent fair competition in the marketplace. BCI's proof failed to show that it was subjected to unfair competition as a result of Banks' employment by Venture Technologies.

The Court notes that BCI and Venture Technologies were competitors before Banks started work for Venture and remained competitors after Banks was working there. The evidence failed to show that there was any change in competition between these two companies as a result of Banks' employment. Because BCI's proof, as a matter

of law, failed to show that it suffered any unfair competition, the jury's verdict cannot stand and must be set aside.

(R. at 1384-1386).

The trial court incorrectly mandated that BCI prove "unfair competition" as an element of its claims. Banks' Motion for J.N.O.V. cited cases in a footnote from foreign jurisdictions which require establishing unfair competition to prove breach of a noncompete agreement. However, Mississippi jurisprudence requires that a plaintiff establish enforceability of a non-compete agreement by showing "the reasonableness and specificity of its terms, primarily the duration of the restriction and its geographic scope." Empiregas, Inc. v. Bain, 599 So. 2d 971, 975 (Miss. 1992); Taylor, 634 F. Supp. at 1247-1250. A court must also examine the covenant's effect on "the rights of the employer, the rights of the employee, and the rights of the public," and balance these respective interests. Texas Rd. Boring Co. of La.-Miss. v. Parker, 194 So. 2d 885, 888 (Miss. 1967). Under a long line of unchanging and decisive opinions, Mississippi courts have held that a covenant not to compete is enforceable if it is "necessary for the protection of the [employer's] business and goodwill." Id. at 886. Neither the trial judge nor Banks can cite any Mississippi authority that confirms a Mississippi plaintiff must prove unfair competition to prevail on a breach of a covenant not to compete claim. To hold BCI to this new and heightened standard is a misapplication of the law.

By imposing an unprecedented post-verdict standard, the trial court invaded the province of the jury. The court never instructed the jury on the "unfair competition" element. In fact, Banks did not submit a proposed jury instruction on this subject of unfair competition. For Banks to now argue that it is a required element, after the jury has spoken, is error.

On the issue of the breach on the non-competition agreement, the Jury Instructions read as follows:

Jury Instruction No. 12

The Court instructs the jury that the Business Protection Agreement 1) prohibited Al Banks from rendering service to any competitor of Business Communications Inc., located within a 150 mile radius of the location of any Business Communications, Inc. office for a period of one (1) year after termination of his employment with Business Communications, Inc., that served to protect a legitimate business interest as defined; 2) prohibited Al Banks from retaining written material, information, records, and documents or copies of same made by him or coming into his possession concerning the business or affairs of Business Communications, Inc.; and 3) required AI Banks to promptly return to Business Communications, Inc. all written material, information, records, and documents made by him or coming into his possession concerning the business or affairs of Business Communications, Inc., including without limitation Confidential Information, and any other property in his possession owned or leased by the Business Communications, Inc. If you find that Al Banks violated one or more of the above conditions of the Business Protection Agreement with Business Communications, Inc., you may find that he was in breach of his agreement with Business Communications, Inc. (R. at 1148-1149).

Jury Instruction No. 13

"Legitimate" business interests are protection from loss of customers and good will, disclosure of confidential and proprietary business information and mis-appropriation of "trade secrets" and training costs. (R. at 1150).

Jury Instruction No. 14

The Court instructs the jury that in determining the validity and enforceability of the covenant not to compete provision in the Business Protection Agreement between Business Communications, Inc., and Albert Banks, you consider the following factors: 1) The rights of Business Communications, Inc., in protecting its legitimate business interests including but not limited to its confidential and proprietary information and the investment in training its employees; 2) The rights of Albert Banks to not be subjected to undue hardship; and 3) The rights of the public to avoid the creation of a deficiency of service in the information technology industry, or that any one information technology company in the state has created or is in danger of creating a monopoly though its use of them. (R. at 1151).

Clearly, the jury properly followed the instructions and found a breach of one of the terms in the BPA as outlined by Jury Instruction Number 12. Nevertheless, the trial court's ruling granting Banks'

Motion for J.N.O.V. created an essential prerequisite on BCI's claims of breach of BPA never before recognized by Mississippi jurisprudence. Ample proof existed that Banks committed multiple breaches of the BPA. To hold BCI to a heightened evidentiary standard, an unprecedented post jury verdict standard is clear error. For these reasons, this Court should reverse the J.N.O.V. and reinstate the jury verdict in BCI's favor.

2. Business Communication, Inc.'s Business Protection Agreement was a valid and enforceable agreement.

Mississippi courts have steadfastly held that an employer has an interest in the protection of its customer base, its goodwill, and its ability to succeed in a competitive marketplace. *Empiregas, Inc. v. Bain*, 599 So. 2d 971, 976 (Miss. 1992). "The primary right of the employer is that of 'protecting the business from loss of customers by the activities of the former employees who have peculiar knowledge of and relationships with the employer's customers." *Herring Gas Co. v. Magee*, 813 F. Supp. 1239, 1245 (S.D. Miss. 1993) (*quoting Redd Pest Control Co., Inc. v. Heatherly*, 248 Miss. 34, 157 So. 2d 133 (1963)).

Here, the proof at trial confirmed that BCI had several business interests the BPA served to protect. First, Banks had extraordinary access to BCI's confidential business operations:

- Banks was the Vice President of Emerging Technologies at BCI. (Tr. at 76).
- Banks was BCI's lead engineer and had access to all of the company's internal systems, including passwords, accounting information, and BCI's business practices. (Tr. at 319, 341).
- BCI depended on the customer and vendor relationships it formed to continue its business. (Tr. at 318).
- BCI had a legitimate business interest in protecting its customer lists. (Tr. at 341).

In addition to protection of confidential information, trade secrets and other proprietary information, Mississippi courts have also held that covenants not to compete are valid and enforceable if they protect an employer's investment in training and education of an employee. *Redd Pest Control Co., Inc. v. Foster*, 761 So. 2d 967, 973 (Miss. App. 2000); *Taylor v. Cordis Corp.*, 634 F.Supp. 1242, 1247-1250 (S.D.Miss.1986); *Texas Rd. Boring Co. of La.-Miss. v. Parker*, 194 So. 2d 885, 889 (Miss.1967); *Heatherly*, 157 So. 2d at 136.

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