IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00407

BUSINESS COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

ALBERT BANKS

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE ALBERT BANKS

Oral Argument Not Requested

SILAS W. McCHAREN - MS BAL smccharen@danielcoker.com DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A. 4400 Old Canton Road, Suite 400 P. O. Box 1084 Jackson, MS 39215-1084 Telephone - 601-969-7607 Facsimile - 601-969-1116

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

BCI comes to this Court seeking monetary relief for alleged breach of a covenant not to compete (BPA) despite there being no evidence of unfair competition and despite the fact that it has suffered no harm or damages. BCI also asks this Court to enforce a separate "contract" (RCA), requiring the payment of money, which was never signed or assented to by the party against whom enforcement is sought.

With regard to the BPA, Mississippi encourages fair competition in the market place and requires evidence of *unfair competition* by the former employee. These contracts are not "ordinary" contracts and are only enforced to protect the employer from unfair competition. Otherwise, such contracts would be illegal restraints of trade. Furthermore, the pursuit of an action for breach of a covenant not to compete, like any other contract, requires proof of damages. BCI's own witnesses readily admitted that BCI suffered no damage as a result of Banks merely leaving BCI to go work for Venture. BCI's business, in fact, prospered after Banks left its employ.

Moreover, BCI's own actions - (1) by expressly disclaiming that its employee handbook (and policies therein) created a contract for any purpose and (2) by expressly requiring Banks' signature on the RCA - alone warrant dismissal of BCI's claim for breach of the RCA. The enforcement of the subject RCA, also cannot withstand scrutiny under Mississippi contract law requirements. Lastly, the *perpetual* nature of the training costs reimbursement BCI is seeking to enforce²² is void as a matter of public policy and renders it an illegal form of involuntary servitude.

²² Requiring employees who desire to terminate their employment from BCI to pay back part of their salary for general on-the-job studying/training which BCI required participation (i.e., "You stay or you pay!").

BCI's actions are nothing more than a vengeful attempt to hurt Banks for his merely going to work for another company. BCI does not seek redress for any damage/harm because, as BCI readily admitted, it sustained no damages. The trial court, which presided over this action for almost three years, recognized this and properly applied the law to the evidence (or lack of evidence) presented by BCI.

After hearing all the evidence offered by BCI in support of its claim(s) and Banks' evidence in opposition to BCI's claim(s) and having had approximately four months to analyze the trial evidence and the applicable law, the trial court correctly concluded that BCI's claim for breach of the BPA and breach of the unsigned RCA failed as a matter of law. The trial court did not weigh the credibility of the evidence but instead applied the law to the evidence as presented and reached the conclusion that such claims were not supported under the law.

Because BCI's claims fail as a matter of law, the trial court's order granting Banks' Motion for JNOV should be AFFIRMED. An affirmance of the trial court's JNOV and dismissal of BCI's appeal should act as a sign to future litigants that such litigious conduct²³ is improper and will not be condoned.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo a trial court's grant of motion for JNOV. Watts v. Radiator Specialty Co., 990 So. 2d 143, 150 (Miss. 2008) (citing White v. Stewman, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006). The standard by which this Court reviews an appeal of a JNOV is the same standard

²³ (1) Pursuit of a breach of contract claim for which the **plaintiff sustained no damages** and (2) pursuit of a breach of contract claim **regarding a document which was never signed or agreed to** (and is a form of involuntary servitude).

employed by the trial court and this Court's review will be "predicated on the fact that the trial judge applied the correct law." White, 932 So. 2d at 32 (quoting Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc., 697 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 1997)).

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING BANKS' MOTION FOR JNOV REGARDING THE BPA

Frierson v. Sheppard Bldg. Supply Co., 154 So.2d 151, 156 (Miss. 1963), guides the Court's analysis of covenants not to compete: "These restrictive contracts are in restraint of trade and individual freedom and are **not favorites of the law**." (Emphasis added). This Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals, repeatedly citing to Frierson and/or its progeny, have time and time again held that covenants not to compete are not favored in the law because they restrict trade and individual freedom.²⁴

Despite not being "favorites of the law," this Court has recognized that because "there is such a thing as unfair competition by an ex-employee," these types of restrictive covenants are not void ab initio, but will be "carefully scrutinized" to determine whether or not "there is a reasonable basis for the covenant"; i.e., whether the covenant is "reasonably necessary for the protection of the employer, without imposing undue hardship on the employee." Thames v. Davis & Goulet Ins. Co., 420 So. 2d 1041, 1043 (Miss. 1982), Texas Road Boring Co., 194 So. 2d at 888. Such covenants are reasonable only to the extent they protect a former employer's (1) legitimate business interest from (2) unfair competition by the ex-employee, and the burden of proving this rests entirely on the employer seeking to enforce the covenant.

²⁴ Kennedy v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 759 So. 2d 362, 364 (Miss. 2000); Herring Gas Co. v. Whiddon, 616 So. 2d 892, 897 (Miss. 1993); Thames v. Davis & Goulet Ins., Inc., 420 So. 2d 1041, 1043 (Miss. 1982); Texas Road Boring Co. v. Parker, 194 So. 2d 885, 888 (Miss. 1967); Cain v. Cain, 967 So. 2d 654, 661 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); Easy Reach, Inc. v. Hub City Brush, Inc., 935 So. 2d 1140, 1142-1143 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); Redd Pest Control Co. v. Foster, 761 So. 2d 967, 972 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

1. Proof of *Unfair Competition* Is A Prerequisite For Damages for Breach of a Covenant Not to Compete

BCI claims that the trial court erred in granting Banks' motion for JNOV regarding the BPA because Mississippi law does not require a showing of unfair competition. However, protection from "unfair competition" is the only reason Courts enforce restrictive covenants not to compete. They are never enforced to prevent mere "competition." In support of BCI's "no unfair competition" argument, BCI relies on three Mississippi cases, *Empiregas, Inc. of Kosciusko v. Bain*, 599 So. 2d 971 (Miss. 1992); *Texas Rd. Boring Co. v. Parker*, 194 So. 2d 885 (Miss. 1967); and *Taylor v. Cordis Corp.*, 634 F. Supp. 1242 (S.D. Miss. 1986). All three of these cases, however, involved clear cases of unfair competition by the departing employee. Furthermore, these cases did not address claims for damages caused by the former employee's alleged breach of the covenant but only addressed the employers' claims for injunctive relief.²⁵

In *Empiregas*, the former salesman did in fact solicit Empiregas customers in violation of his covenant not to compte. 599 So. 2d at 973, 974.²⁶ The unfair competition in *Texas Rd Boaring Co*. consisted of the former employee illegally duplicating Texas Road Boaring's proprietary machinery, hiring away of Texas Road Boaring personnel, and soliciting Texas Road Boaring customers. 194

²⁵ BCI's agreed to injunctive relief that allowed Banks to continue to work for Venture. BCI's only claim against Banks under the BPA was for damages. Accordingly, to prove its case BCI was required to show how and to what extent, if any, it had been damaged from Banks going to work at Venture.

²⁶ Despite a solicitation of customers, this Court did not enforce the covenant not to compete, reasoning that it would have a far more oppressive effect on the employee in enforcing it (i.e., requiring a lengthy commute by the employee or uprooting his family from its home) than its non-enforcement would have on Empiregas. *Empiregas*, 599 So.2d at 976. The facts in *Empiregas* provided a much stronger case for enforcement than the facts of this case.

So. 2d 885. In *Taylor*, the former salesman solicited Cordis' customers contrary to his covenant not to compete.²⁷

Thus, BCI is incorrect in its assertion that a showing of unfair competition is not required under Mississippi law. See Herring Gas Co. v. Whiddon, 616 So. 2d 892 (Miss. 1993). Herring Gas states what type of "competition" is prohibited under a covenant not to compete in an employment contract:

The essential line of distinction between the two (2) settings is that:
... the purchaser is entitled to protect himself against [ordinary] competition on the part of the vendor, while the employer is not entitled to protection against mere [ordinary] competition on the part of a servant.

616 So. 2d 892, 897 (Miss. 1993) (emphasis added). The very authority offered by BCI, *Taylor v. Cordis, supra*, also confirms that **something more** is required to enforce such agreements than the mere fact that a former employee is simply competing (i.e., ordinary competition) against the former employer contrary to his/her covenant not to compete:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that certain non-competition agreements are valid and enforceable. See, e.g., Donahoe v. Tatum, 242 Miss. 253, 134 So. 2d 442 (1961). The court has recognized, however, that such an agreement "restricts the exercise of a gainful occupation [and] is a restraint of trade." Accordingly, the Mississippi courts require more

²⁷ Despite this wrongful solicitation and the proven loss of Cordis' customers, the District Court still allowed Taylor to work for the competing company but prohibited (via an injunction) Taylor from further solicitation of Cordis' customers.

²⁸ BCI is also incorrect in its assertion Banks failed to submit a jury instruction regarding unfair competition. See Jury Instruction D-10 [R. 1087]. Jury Instruction D-10 would have instructed the jury that covenants not to compete are unenforceable if they seek merely to avoid fair competition in the marketplace and counsel for Banks explicitly argued this before the trial court. [Tr. 567-68]. The Appellate Record excluded the jury instruction page of D-10 and only included the legal citation page. [R.1087]. If the Court wishes to review the language from D-10, the same is quoted in Banks' Motion for New Trial. [R. 1179]. Furthermore, the Table of Contents of the Appellate Record incorrectly documents Jury Instruction D-10 as being "withdrawn." The trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on D-10 was specifically argued in Banks Motion for New Trial and therefore was never withdrawn.

than the fact that an employer has a written agreement that the employee will not, on leaving his employment, compete with his employer, that the employee breaks that agreement, that the employee quits his employer, that the employee starts working for a rival, and that the rival thereby becomes a more efficient competitor.... to enforce a non-competition agreement. Thames v. Davis & Goulet Ins. Co., 420 So. 2d 1041, 1043 (Miss. 1982).

Id. at 1247-1248 (emphasis added). Mississippi is not alone in requiring proof of unfair competition. It is uniformly held throughout the country, that *ordinary competition* is not protected under convents not to compete.²⁹ It could not be otherwise. Fair competition in the marketplace is the foundation of the nation's economy.

Therefore, the mere fact that a former employee goes to work for a competitor is not enough to warrant injunctive relief and/or damages under a covenant not to compete; i.e., just because the employee was required to sign an agreement that he would not "merely compete" does not mean that the agreement is enforceable. The employer is required to show that the ex-employee is *unfairly*

²⁹ Arkansas: Statco Wireless v. Southwestern Bell Wireless, 95 S.W.3d 13, 21 (Ark. Ct. App. 2003) ("the law will not enforce a [covenant not to compete] contract that merely prohibits ordinary competition."); Bendinger v. Marshalltown Trowell Co., 338 Ark. 410, 418 (Ark. 1999) ("the law will not protect parties against ordinary competition"). Kansas: Allen, Gibbs & Houlik, L.C. v. Ristow, 32 Kan. App. 2d 1051, 1054 (Kan, Ct. App. 2004) ("If the sole purpose is to avoid ordinary competition, it is unreasonable and unenforceable"). Massachusetts: Oceanair, Inc. v. Katzman, 14 Mass. L. Rep. 414 (Mass. Super. Ct. 2002) ("Protection of the employer from ordinary competition, however, is not a legitimate business interest, and a covenant not to compete designed solely for that purpose will not be enforced"). Missouri: Healthcare Servs. of the Ozarks, Inc. v. Copeland, 198 S.W.3d 604, 610 (Mo. 2006) ("such restrictions are not enforceable to protect an employer from mere competition by a former employee"). Nebraska: AON Consulting, Inc. v. Midlands Fin. Benefits, Inc., 275 Neb. 642, 653 (Neb. 2008) ("An employer. . . is not entitled to protection against ordinary competition from a former employee"). Ohio: Convergys Corp. v. Wellman, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90729 (S.D. Ohio Nov. 30, 2007) ("non-competition agreements were not intended to prevent ordinary competition"). Oklahoma: Cardiovascular Surgical Specialists, Corp. v. Mammana, 2002 OK 27 (Okla. 2002) (citing to the 15 Okl. St. § 217, the Oklahoma Supreme Court stated an employer may only contractually protect itself from unfair competition and not from ordinary fair competition). Tennessee: Fadalla v. Life Auto. Prods., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 69082 (W.D. Tenn. Sept. 18, 2007) ("an employer cannot restrain ordinary competition by contractual obligations,"). Wisconsin: Wausau Medical Ctr., S.C. v. Asplund, 182 Wis. 2d 274, 283 (Wis. Ct. App. 1994) ("An employer is not entitled to be protected against legitimate and ordinary competition of the type a stranger could give.").

competing. Therefore, BCI's damages must result from an unfair competitive advantage Venture gained as a result of Banks' employment.

BCI boldly claims that the "mere signing" of the BPA prevented Banks from competing whether fairly or unfairly with BCI. Tony Bailey and Thomas Hinds testified that it made no difference whether BCI was harmed when Banks left. They admitted that there was no proof that any legitimate business interest of BCI's was ever harmed when Banks went to work for Venture. Their testimony is an unequivocal admission that BCI was, and still is, trying to prohibit *ordinary* competition, not unfair competition. This testimony alone warrants dismissal.

2. BCI Failed to Prove Any Legitimate Business Interests Worthy of Protection Which Was Harmed When Banks Went to Work for Venture

Unfair competition is the "legitimate business interest" of the employer; i.e. what the covenant was designed to protect against. "[T]he ex-employer ... [is required] to demonstrate to the trial court the economic justification, the reasonableness, of the restraint which is sought to be imposed." *Empiregas, Inc. of Kosciusko v. Bain*, 599 So. 2d 971, 976 (Miss. 1992). The most commonly recognized "business interests" are an employer's (a) customer base/good will and (b) confidential information, such as trade secrets. ³⁰ Banks agrees these interests are worthy of protection under covenants not to compete. Unfair competition is the result if the departing employee steals his former employer's customer; benefits from his former employer's "good will" or uses truly "inside" confidential information or trade secret to his advantage. ³¹ The evidence at trial, however,

³⁰ BCI, however, admitted that it possesses no trade secrets. [Tr. 110-11].

³¹ See Herring Gas Co. v. Magee, 813 F. Supp. 1239, 1245 (S.D. Miss. 1993) (stating, "The primary right of the employer is that of 'protecting the business from loss of customers by the activities of the former employees who have peculiar knowledge of the relationships with the employer's customers.") (quoting Redd Pest Control Co., 157 So. 2d at 136); Texas Rd. Boring Co. v. Parker, 194 So. 2d 885, 889 (Miss. 1967) (holding covenant was necessary for protection of business and good will of employer which "was largely

demonstrated that these types of business interests were never harmed when Banks quit working for BCI and went to work for Venture. The evidence instead demonstrated that these legitimate business interests were in fact PROTECTED. BCI admitted that it could not name a single customer lost as a result of Banks going to work for Venture or that Banks ever disclosed any BCI confidential information. [Tr. 105-106, 123, 341, 349].

a. General "On-the-Job" Training/Studying is Not a Protectable Interest

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